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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

AT CHATTANOOGA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

1:19-cr-__ 
v. 

Judge __ _ 

RAHIM SADRUDDIN 

PLEA AGREEMENT 

The United States of America, by the United States Attorney for the .Eastern District of 

Tennessee, and the defendant, Rahim Sadruddin, and the defendant's attorney, Lee Davis, have 

agreed upon the following: 

1. The defendant will waive indictment and arraignment and plead guilty to an

information charging the defendant with the following offenses: 

Counts One and Two. Wire. Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343. 

The punishment for this offense is as follows: Because the offense involved a presidentially 

declared major disaster and emergency, imprisonment up to 30 years; supervised release up to 5 

years; a fine of up to $1 million, any lawful forfeiture, a $100 special assessment, and any lawful 

restitution. 

Count Three. Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1956(h) and 1957.

The punishment for this offense is as follows: Imprisonment up to 10 years; supervised 

release up to 3 years; a fine of up to $250,000 or twice the amount of criminally derived property, 

any lawful forfeiture, a $100 special assessment, and any lawful restitution. 
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2. In consideration of the defendant's guilty plea(s), the United States agrees not to

further prosecute the defendant in the Eastern District of Tennessee for any other non-tax criminal 

offenses committed by the defendant that are related to the charges contained in the indictment in 

this case and that are known to the United States Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of 

Tennessee at the time this plea agreement is signed by both parties. 

The parties anticipate that the defendants will plead guilty in state court to offenses which 

are tangential to the scheme described herein. Inasmuch as the defendants have agreed to plead 

guilty to those state offenses, the parties recommend that the court impose concurrent sentences 

regarding the related state conduct and the anticipated state court sentence. 

3. The defendant has read the indictment, discussed the charges and possible defenses

with defense counsel, and understands the crime(s) charged. Specifically, the elements of the 

offense(s) are as follows: 

18 U.S.C. § 1343-Wire Fraud 

The Defendant: 

a) Devised a scheme to defraud or obtain money or property by materially false or
fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises ( or willfully participated in such a scheme with 
knowledge of its fraudulent nature); 

b) Acted with intent to defraud; and

c) In advancing or furthering the scheme, transmitted or caused the transmission of any
writing, signal, or sound by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate 
commerce. 

I 

18 U.S.C. § 1956(h)-Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering 

The Defendant: 

Agreed with one or more co-conspirators; toa)

b) Conduct a financial transaction over $10,000 in a financial institution affecting
nterstate commerce;
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c) Knowing the money came from some kind of criminal offense;

d) The money was in fact derived from a specified unlawful activity; and

e) The specified unlawful activity took place in the United States or was conducted by a
United States person.

4. In support of the defendant's guilty plea, the defendant agrees and stipulates to the

following facts, which satisfy the offense elements. These are the facts submitted for purposes of 

the defendant's guilty plea. They do not necessarily constitute all of the facts in the case. Other 

facts may be relevant to sentencing. Both the defendant and the United States retain the right to 

present additional facts to the Court to ensure a fair and appropriate sentence in this case. 

The defendant agrees that the facts set forth in the Information alleging furtherance of the 

wire fraud scheme (18 U.S.C. § 1343) and the money laundering conspiracy (18 U.S.C. § 1956(h) 

and 1957) are accurate, true, and correct and there is nothing contained in those facts that is untrue 

or incorrect. 

Specifically, the facts from the Information that support Counts One and Three of the 

Information to which the defendant is pleading guilty derive from an October 3, 2017 email sent by 

KARIM SADRUDDIN to SETO, RAHIM SADR UDDIN, and another in the Eastern District of 

Tennessee and elsewhere, a fraudulent wire transfer record and a fraudulent invoice valued at 

approximately $1.4 million purporting to reflect work that had been done on the building and a 

record reflecting the cost of the purchase of the building valued at $850,000. This email resulted in a 

disbursement of funds, on or about November 9, 2017, via checks totaling $2,256,900 from the IDB 

to KARIM SADRUDDIN, which he later deposited into TCA's Regions Bank account in Suwanee, 

Georgia and which KARIM SADRUDDIN and RAHIM SADRUDDIN later used to purchase tarps 

in the continuation of the scheme to defraud FEMA. 

Page 3 of13

Case 1:19-cr-00146-HSM-CHS   Document 5   Filed 10/23/19   Page 3 of 13   PageID #: 39



The facts from the Information that support Counts Two and Three of the Information to 

which the defendant is pleading guilty derive from a June 13, 2018, email from RAHIM 

SADRUDDIN to a representative of TV A, in the Eastern District of Tennessee, with an attached 

TV A Performance Grant Agreement, signed by KARIM SADRUDDIN, which falsely represented 

that prior to April 1, 2018, the defendants had already invested $17 million of their total $27 million 

investment in the Pikeville manufacturing facility. On the same day, RAHIM SADRUDDIN, sent to 

a representative of TVA, in the Eastern District of Tennessee, a second email with an attached 

Commercial Operation Date Certification, signed by KARIM SADRUDDIN, which falsely certified 

that TCA's Pikeville facility had achieved commercial operation on March 1, 2018. These two 

emails caused TV A to electronically transfer $230,000 in grant proceeds on July 2, 2018, from a 

TVA bank account located in the Eastern District of Tennessee, to a TCA account at Regions Bank 

controlled by the defendants and located in the State of Georgia. 

In sum, KARIM SADRUDDIN and RAHIM SADRUDDIN conspired and agreed to 

participate in a scheme, and did intentionally participate in a scheme to defraud by knowingly 

making various fraudulent representations via wire ( emails and other wire-related representations) to 

FEMA, TVA, and the state of Tennessee. This resulted in several financial transactions with a value 

greater than $10,000 taking place with financial institutions that engage in interstate commerce. 

KARIM SAD RUD DIN and RAHIM SADRUDDIN knew they were using money that came from a 

specified unlawful activity, and the scheme resulted in a collective loss to the victim entities of 

between $3.5 million and $9.5 million. 

Some of these events took place in the Eastern District of Tennessee. 
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5. The defendant is pleading guilty because the defendant is in fact guilty.

The defendant understands that, by pleading guilty, the defendant is giving up several rights, 

including: 

a) the right to plead not guilty;

b) the right to a speedy and public trial by jury;

c) the right to assistance of counsel at trial;

d) the right to be presumed innocent and to have the burden of proof placed on

the United States to prove the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt; 

e) the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses against the defendant;

f) the right to testify on one's own behalf, to present evidence in opposition to

the charges, and to compel the attendance of witnesses; and 

g) the right not to testify and to have that choice not used against the defendant.

6. The parties agree that the appropriate disposition of this case would be the following

as to each count: 

a) The Court may impose any lawful term(s) of imprisonment, any lawful

fine(s), and any lawful term(s) of supervised release up to the statutory maximum(s); 

b) The Court will impose special assessment fees as required by law; and

c) The Court may order forfeiture as applicable and restitution as appropriate.

No promises have been made by any representative of the United States to the defendant as to what 

the sentence will be in this case. Any estimates or predictions made to the defendant by defense 

counsel or any other person regarding any potential sentence in this case are not binding on the 

Court, and may not be used as a basis to rescind this plea agreement or withdraw the defendant's 

guilty plea(s). The defendant understands that the sentence in this case will be determined by the 

Page S of13 

Case 1:19-cr-00146-HSM-CHS   Document 5   Filed 10/23/19   Page 5 of 13   PageID #: 41



Court after it receives the presentence investigation report from the United States Probation Office 

and any information presented by the parties. The defendant acknowledges that the sentencing 

determination will be based upon the entire scope of the defendant's criminal conduct, the 

defendant's criminal history, and pursuant to other factors and guidelines as set forth in the 

Sentencing Guidelines and the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553. 

7. Given the defendant's agreement to plead guilty, the United States will not oppose a

two-level reduction for acceptance ofresponsibility under the provisions of Section 3El.l(a) of the 

Sentencing Guidelines. Further, if the defendant's offense level is 16 or greater, and the defendant 

is awarded the two-level reduction pursuant to Section 3El.l(a), the United States agrees to move, 

at or before the time of sentencing, the Court to decrease the offense level by one additional level 

pursuant to Section 3El.l(b) of the Sentencing Guidelines. Should the defendant engage in any 

conduct or make any statements that are inconsistent with accepting responsibility for the 

defendant's offense(s), including violations of conditions of release or the commission of any 

additional offense(s) prior to sentencing, the United States will be free to decline to make such 

motion, to withdraw that motion if already made, and to recommend to the Court that the defendant 

not receive any reduction for acceptance of responsibility under Section 3 E 1.1 of the Sentencing 

Guidelines. 

8. The defendant agrees to pay the special assessment in this case prior to sentencing.

9. Unless otherwise limited by an agreed preliminary order of forfeiture, the defendant

agrees to forfeit to the United States immediately and voluntarily any and all assets and property, or 

portions thereof, which are in the possession or control of the defendant or the defendant's nominees 

that constitutes or is derived from, any proceeds obtained, directly or indirectly, as a result of an 

offense in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343. The defendant also agrees to forfeit any property involved 
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in such offense and any property traceable to such property in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(h) and 

1957. The defendant agrees to forfeit his interest in the following properties: 

BANK ACCOUNTS 

a) Funds up to the amount of$808.70 in account number ending in 9351 at SunTrust Bank,
account name Fatima Sadruddin;

b) Funds up to the amount of $129,080.98 in account number ending in 8758 at SunTrust
Bank, account name Fatima Sadruddin;

c) Funds up to the amount of$1,003.0l in account number ending in 4083 at SunTrust
Bank, account name Fatima Sadruddin "Grocery";

d) Funds up to the amount of $1,700.11 in account number ending in 0655 at Wells Fargo
Bank, account name Service At Convenience LLC;

e) Funds up to the amount of $303.73 in the account of Karim or Rehana K. Sadruddin at
Fifth Third Bank, account number ending in 7623; and

f) Funds up to the amount of $.91 in the account ofRehana K. Sadruddin at Fifth Third
Bank, account number ending in 6407.

CONVEYANCES 

A white 2017 Ford F-150 pickup truck, VIN 1FTEW1EG1HFB85829 which was 
seized from KARIM SADRUDDIN. 

REAL PROPERTIES 

a) Real property having a mailing address of 6385 Bellmoore Park Lane, Johns Creek,
Georgia 30097, with all appurtenances, improvements, and attachments thereon,
which is more fully identified and more particularly described below:

All that tract or parcel of land lying and being in Land Lot 417 of the 1st
District, 1st Section, Fulton County, Georgia being Lot 241, The Palisades at
Bellmoore Park- Phase II, as shown on plat recorded in Plat Book 380, pages
106-114, Fulton County, Georgia records, which said plat being incorporated
herein by reference thereto.

For further reference see Limited Warranty Deed filed and recorded on June 
2, 2017, in Deed Book 57578, Page 501, in the Clerk of Superior Court for 
Fulton County, Georgia, Instrument Number 2017-0195292. 
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b) Real property having a mailing address of 11205 Olbrich Trail, Johns Creek,
Georgia 30097, with all appurtenances, improvements, and attachments
thereon, which is more fully identified and more particularly described below:

All that tract of parcel of land lying and being in Land Lot 417 and 418 of the 
1st District, 1st Section, Fulton County, Georgia being Lot 200, The Palisades 
at Bellmoore Park- Phase III, as shown on plat recorded in Plat Book 387, 
Pages 69-79, Fulton County, Georgia records. 

For further reference see Deed Book 59083, page 208, filed and recorded 
August 3, 2018 in the Clerk of Superior Court for Fulton County, Georgia, 
Instrument Number 2018-0217292. 

c) Real property having a mailing address of 132 Ferro Street, Pikeville, TN 37367,
with all appurtenances, improvements, and attachments thereon, which is more
fully identified and more particularly described below:

To find the true point of beginning, begin at the intersection of the Westerly line of 
Bledsoe Recreation Center property with the Southern right of way line of 
Cleveland Street and go, thence South 44°23117" West and along the Westerly line 
of Bledsoe Recreation Center property a distance of 755.08 feet to a point; thence 
South 49°101551

1 East along the Southerly line of the Bledsoe Recreation Center 
property a distance of 778.65 feet to fence comer, said comer also being the 
Southeast comer of the Bledsoe Recreation Center; thence South 49°4121 11 East a 
distance of 587. 73 feet to a point in the Western right of way line of "C" Street; 
thence South 49°10139" West along the Western right-of-way line of "C" Street a 
distance of 156.75 feet to a point; thence North 48°34'21" West and leaving said 
right of way line a distance of 33.0 feet to a point; thence South 44°9120" West a 
distance of 213.66 feet to a wood fence post; thence North 37°17'7" West a distance 
of 156.96 feet to a fence post; thence South 49°45117" West a. distance of 235.90 
feet to a wood fence post; thence 46°53'59" West a distance of 235.90 feet to a 
wood fence post; thence 46°53'59" West a distance of 1,177.97 feet to a point; 
thence North 48°20'49" East a distance of 527.47 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

Being the same property conveyed to the Grantor by deed of record in Book 
RB304, Page 108, Register's Office, Bledsoe County, Tennessee. 

For further reference see Warranty Deed filed and recorded on July 7, 2017, 
in Deed Book RB313, Pages 443-448, in the Register of Deed's Office of 
Bledsoe County, Tennessee, Instrument Number 17115404. 

PROCEEDS 
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Proceeds in the amount of $1,750,000.00 in U.S. currency, which represents the minimum 
amount of proceeds the defendant, RAHIM SADRUDDIN, personally obtained as a result of 
an offense in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343, and the amount of money involved in the 
defendant's offense in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(h) and 1957. 

The defendant further agrees to assist the United States fully in the identification, recovery, 

and return to the United States of any other assets or portions thereof subject to forfeiture. The 

defendant further agrees to make a full and complete disclosure of all assets over which the defendant 

exercises control and those which are held or controlled by a nominee. The defendant agrees to 

forfeiture of the money judgment as described above and to take whatever steps are necessary to pass 

clear title of assets to the United States. These steps include, but are not limited to, the surrender of 

title, the signing of a consent decree of forfeiture, and the signing of any other documents necessary 

to effectuate such transfers. The defendant agrees not to object to any forfeiture brought against these 

properties. The defendant agrees to take all such steps to locate such property and to pass title to the 

United States before the defendant's sentencing. 

10. The defendant agrees that the Court shall order restitution, pursuant to any applicable

provision oflaw, for any loss caused to: (1) the victim(s) of any offense charged in this case (including 

dismissed counts); and (2) the victim(s) of any criminal activity that was part of the same course of 

conduct or common scheme or plan as the defendant's charged offense(s). 

11. Financial Obligations. The defendant agrees to pay all fines and restitution imposed

by the Court to the Clerk of Court. The defendant also agrees that the full fine and/or restitution 

amount(s) shall be considered due and payable immediately. If the defendant cannot pay the full 

amount immediately and is placed in custody or under the supervision of the Probation Office at any 

time, the defendant agrees that the Bureau of Prisons and the Probation Office will have the 

authority to establish payment schedules to ensure payment of the fine and/or restitution. The 

defendant further agrees to cooperate fully in efforts to collect any financial obligation imposed by 
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the Court by set-off of federal payments, execution on non-exempt property, and any other means 

the United States deems appropriate. The defendant and counsel also agree that the defendant may 

be contacted post-judgment regarding the collection of any financial obligation imposed by the 

Court without notifying the defendant's counsel and outside the presence of the defendant's counsel. 

In order to facilitate the collection of financial obligations to be imposed with this prosecution, the 

defendant agrees to disclose fully all assets in which the defendant has any interest or over which the 

defendant exercises control, directly or indirectly, including those held by a spouse, nominee, or 

other third party. In furtherance of this agreement, the defendant additionally agrees to the 

following specific terms and conditions: 

a) If so requested by the United States, the defendant will promptly submit a

completed financial statement to the U.S. Attorney's Office, in a form it provides and as it directs. 

The defendant promises that such financial statement and disclosures will be complete, accurate, and 

truthful. 

b) The defendant expressly authorizes the U.S. Attorney's Office to obtain a

credit report on the defendant in order to evaluate the defendant's ability to satisfy any financial 

obligation imposed by the Court. 

c) If so requested by the United States, the defendant will promptly execute

authorizations on forms provided by the U.S. Attorney's Office to permit the U.S. Attorney's Office 

to obtain financial and tax records of the defendant. 

12. The defendant recognizes that pleading guilty may have consequences with respect to

his immigration status ifhe is not a citizen of the United States. Under federal law, a broad range of 

crimes are removable offenses, including the offense(s) to which defendant is pleading guilty. 

Removal and other immigration consequences are the subject of a separate proceeding, however, 
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and defendant understands that no one, including the defendant's attorney or the district court, can 

predict to a certainty the effect of this conviction on defendant's immigration status. Defendant 

nevertheless affirms that he wants to plead guilty regardless of any immigration consequences that 

his plea may entail, even if the consequence is his automatic removal from the United States. 

13. The defendant acknowledges that the principal benefits to the United States of a plea

agreement include the conservation of limited government resources and bringing a certain end to 

the case. Accordingly, in consideration of the concessions made by the United States in this 

agreement and as a further demonstration of the defendant's acceptance of responsibility for the 

offense(s) committed, the defendant voluntarily, knowingly, and intentionally agrees to the 

following: 

The defendant will not, whether directly or by a representative, request or receive from any 

department or agency of the United States any records pertaining to the investigation or prosecution 

of this case, including, without limitation, any records that may be sought under the Freedom of 

Information Act, 5 U.S.C. Section 552, or the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. Section 552a. 

14. This plea agreement becomes effective once it is signed by the parties and is not

contingent on the defendant's entry of a guilty plea. If the United States violates the terms of this 

plea agreement, the defendant will have the right to withdraw from this agreement. If the defendant 

violates the terms of this plea agreement in any way (including but not limited to failing to enter 

guilty plea(s) as agreed herein, moving to withdraw guilty plea(s) after entry, or by violating any 

court order or any local, state or federal law pending the resolution of this case), then the United 

States will have the right to void any or all parts of the agreement and may also enforce whatever 

parts of the agreement it chooses. In addition, the United States may prosecute the defendant for 

any and all federal crimes that the defendant committed related to this case, including any charges 
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that were dismissed and any other charges which the United States agreed not to pursue. The 

defendant expressly waives any statute of limitations defense and any constitutional or speedy trial 

or double jeopardy defense to such a prosecution. The defendant also understands that a violation of 

this plea agreement by the defendant does not entitle the defendant to withdraw the defendant's 

guilty plea(s) in this case. 

15. The United States will file a supplement in this case, as required in every case by the

Local Rules of the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Tennessee, even though 

there may or may not be any additional terms. If additional terms are included in the supplement, 

they are hereby fully incorporated herein. 

16. This plea agreement and supplement constitute the full and complete agreement and

understanding between the parties concerning the defendant's guilty plea to the above-referenced 

charge(s), and there are no other agreements, promises, undertakings, or understandings between the 

defendant and the United States. The parties understand and agree that the terms of this plea 

agreement can be modified only in writing signed by all of the parties and that any and all other 

promises, representations, and statements whether made before, contemporaneous with, or after this 

agreement, are null and void. 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE] 
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By: 
Date 

Date 

Date t J 

J. DOUGLAS OVERBEY
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

Assistant United States Attorney 

RAHIM SADRUDDIN 
Defendant 

LE��' 
Attorney for the Defendant 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

AT CHATTANOOGA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

v. 
Judge __ 

KARIM SADRUDDIN 

PLEA AGREEMENT 

The United States of America, by the United States Attorney for the Eastern District of 

Tennessee, and the defendant, Karim Sadruddin, and the defendant's attorney, Eugene Shiles, have 

agreed upon the following: 

1. The defendant will waive indictment and arraignment and plead guilty to an

information charging the defendant with the following offenses: 

Counts One and Two. Wire Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343. 

The punishment for this offense is as follows: Because the offense involved a presidentially 

declared major disaster and emergency, imprisonment up to 30 years; supervised release up to 5

years; a fine ofup to $1 million, any lawful forfeiture, a $100 special assessment, and any lawful 

restitution. 

Count Three. Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1956(h) and 1957.

The punishment for this offense is as follows: Imprisonment up to 10 years; supervised 

release up to 3 years; a fine of up to $250,000 or twice the amount of criminally derived property, 

any lawful forfeiture, a $100 special assessment, and any lawful restitution. 
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2. Jn consideration of the defendant's guilty plea(s), the United States agrees not to

further prosecute the defendant in the Eastern District of Tennessee for any other non-tax criminal 

offenses committed by the defendant that are related to the charges contained in the indictment in 

this case and that are known to the United States Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of 

Tennessee at the time this plea agreement is signed by both parties. 

The parties anticipate that the defendants will plead guilty in state court to offenses which 

are tangential to the scheme described herein. Inasmuch as the defendants have agreed to plead 

guilty to those state offenses, the parties recommend that the court impose concurrent sentences 

regarding the related state conduct and the anticipated state court sentence. 

3. The defendant has read the indictment, discussed the charges and possible defenses

with defense counsel, and understands the crime(s) charged. Specifically, the elements of the 

offense(s) are as follows: 

18 U.S.C. § 1343 - Wire Fraud 

The Defendant: 

a) Devised a scheme to defraud or obtain money or property by materially false or
fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises ( or willfully participated in such a scheme with 
knowledge of its fraudulent nature); 

b) Acted with intent to defraud; and

c) In advancing or furthering the scheme, transmitted or caused the transmission of any
writing, signal, or sound by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate 
commerce. 

18 U.S.C. § 1956(h)-Conspiracyto CommitMoneyLaundering 

The Defendant: 

a) Agreed with one or more co-conspirators; to

b) Conduct a financial transaction over $10,000 in a financial institution affecting
interstate commerce; 
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c) Knowing the money came from some kind of criminal offense;

d) The money was in fact derived from a specified unlawful activity; and

e) The specified unlawful activity took place in the United States or was conducted by a
United States person.

4. In support of the defendant's guilty plea, the defendant agrees and stipulates to the

following facts, which satisfy the offense elements. These are the facts submitted for purposes of 

the defendant's guilty plea. They do not necessarily constitute all of the facts in the case. Other 

facts may be relevant to sentencing. Both the defendant and the U�ted States retain the right to 

present additional facts to the Court to ensure a fair and appropriate sentence in this case. 

The defendant agrees that the facts set forth in the fuformation alleging furtherance of the 

wire fraud scheme (18 U.S.C. § 1343) and the money laundering conspiracy (18 U.S.C. § 1956(h) 

and 1957) are accurate, true, and correct and there is nothing contained in those facts that is untrue 

or incorrect. 

Specifically, the facts from the fuformation that support Counts One and Three of the 

Information to which the defendant is pleading guilty derive from an October 3, 2017 email sent by 

KARIM SADRUDDIN to SETD, RAHIM SADRUDDIN, and another in the Eastern District of 

Tennessee and elsewhere, a fraudulent wire transfer record and a fraudulent invoice valued at 

approximately $1.4 million purporting to reflect work that had been done on the building and a 

record reflecting the cost of the purchase of the building valued at $850,000. This email resulted in a 

disbursement of funds, on or about November 9, 2017, via checks totaling $2,256,900 from the IDB 

to KARIM SADRUDDIN, which he later deposited into TCA's Regions Bank account in Suwanee, 

Georgia and which KARIM SADRUDDIN and RAHIM SAD RUD DIN later used to purchase tarps 

in the continuation of the scheme to defraud FEMA. 
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The facts from the Information that support Counts Two and 1bree of the Information to 

which the defendant is pleading guilty derive from a June 13, 2018, email from RAHIM 

SADRUDDIN to a representative of TVA, in the Eastern District of Tennessee, with an attached 

TVA Performance Grant Agreement, signed by KARIM SADRUDDIN, which falsely represented 

that prior to April 1, 2018, the defendants had already invested $17 million of their total $27 million 

investment in the Pikeville manufacturing facility. On the same day, RAHIM SADRUDDIN, sent to 

a representative of TVA, in the Eastern District of Tennessee, a second email with an attached 

Commercial Operation Date Certification, signed by KARIM SADRUDDIN, which falsely certified 

that TCA's Pikeville facility had achieved commercial operation on March 1, 2018. These two 

emails caused TVA to electronically transfer $230,000 in grant proceeds on July 2, 2018, from a 

TVA bank account located in the Eastern District of Tennessee, to a TCA account at Regions Bank 

controlled by the defendants and located in the State of Georgia. 

In sum, KARIM SADRUDDIN and RAHIM SADR UDDIN conspired and agreed to 

participate in a scheme, and did intentionally participate in a scheme to defraud by knowingly 

making various fraudulent representations via wire ( emails and other wire-related representations) to 

FEMA, TV A, and the state of Tennessee. This resulted in several financial transactions with a value 

greater than $10,000 taking place with financial institutions that engage in interstate commerce. 

KARIM SADRUDDIN and RAHIM SADR UDDIN knew they were using money that came from a 

specified unlawful activity, and the scheme resulted in a collective loss to the victim entities of 

between $3.5 million and $9.5 million. 

Some of these events took place in the Eastern District of Tennessee. 
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5. The defendant is pleading guilty because the defendant is in fact guilty.

The defendant understands that, by pleading guilty, the defendant is giving up several rights, 

including: 

a) the right to plead not guilty;

b) the right to a speedy and public trial by jury;

c) the right to assistance of counsel at trial;

d) the right to be presumed innocent and to have the burden of proof placed on

the United States to prove the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt; 

e) the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses against the defendant;

f) the right to testify on one's own behalf, to present evidence in opposition to

the charges, and to compel the attendance of witnesses; and 

g) the right not to testify and to have that choice not used against the defendant.

6. The parties agree that the appropriate disposition of this case would be the following

as to each count: 

a) The Court may impose any lawful term(s) of imprisonment, any lawful

fine(s), and any lawful tenn(s) of supervised release up to the statutory maximum(s); 

b) The Court will impose special assessment fees as required by law; and

c) The Court may order forfeiture as applicable and restitution as appropriate.

No promises have been made by any representative of the United States to the defendant as to what 

the sentence will be in this case. Any estimates or predictions made to the defendant by defense 

counsel or any other person regarding any potential sentence in this case are not binding on the 

Court, and may not be used as a basis to rescind this plea agreement or withdraw the defendant's 

guilty plea( s ). The defendant understands that the sentence in this case will be determined by the 
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Court after it receives the presentence investigation report from the United States Probation Office 

and any information presented by the parties. The defendant acknowledges that the sentencing 

determination will be based upon the entire scope of the defendant's criminal conduct, the 

defendant's criminal history, and pursuant to other factors and guidelines as set forth in the 

Sentencing Guidelines and the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553.

7. Given the defendant's agreement to plead guilty, the United States will not oppose a

two-level reduction for acceptance of responsibility under the provisions of Section 3El.l(a) of the 

Sentencing Guidelines. Further, if the defendant's offense level is 16 or greater, and the defendant 

is awarded the two-level reduction pursuant to Section 3El. l(a), the United States agrees to move, 

at or before the time of sentencing, the Court to decrease the offense level by one additional level 

pursuant to Section 3El. l(b) of the Sentencing Guidelines. Should the defendant engage in any 

conduct or make any st.atements that are inconsistent with accepting responsibility for the 

defendant's offense(s), including violations of conditions of release or the commission of any 

additional offense(s) prior to sentencing, the United States will be free to decline to make such 

motion, to withdraw that motion if already made, and to recommend to the Court that the defendant 

not receive any reduction for acceptance of responsibility under Section 3El.1 of the Sentencing 

Guidelines. 

8. The defendant agrees to pay the special assessment in this case prior to sentencing.

9. Unless otherwise limited by an agreed preliminary order of forfeiture, the defendant

agrees to forfeit to the United States immediately and voluntarily any and all assets and property, or 

portions thereof, which are in the possession or control of the defendant or the defendant's nominees 

that constitutes or is derived from, any proceeds obtained, directly or indirectly, as a result of an 

offense in violation of 18 U.S.C. §.1343. The defendant also agrees to forfeit any property involved 
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in such offense and any property traceable to such property in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ l956(h) and 

1957. The defendant agrees to forfeit his interest in the following properties: 

BANK ACCOUNTS 

a) Funds up to the amount of $808.70 in account number ending in 9351 at SunTrust Bank,
account name Fatima Sadruddin;

b) Funds up to the amount of $129,080.98 in account number ending in 8758 at SunTrust
Bank, account name Fatima Sadruddin;

c) Funds up to the amount of $1,003.01 in account number ending in 4083 at SunTrust
Bank, account name Fatima Sadruddin "Grocery";

d) Funds up to the amount of $1,700.11 in account number ending in 0655 at Wells Fargo
Bank, account name Service At Convenience LLC;

e) Funds up to the amount of $303.73 in the account of Karim or Rehana K. Sadruddin at
Fifth Third Bank, account number ending in 7623; and

f) Funds up to the amount of $.91 in the account ofRehana K. Sadruddin at Fifth Third
Bank, account number ending in 6407.

CONVEYANCES 

A white 2017 Ford F-150 pickup truck, VIN 1FTEW1EG1HFB85829 which was 
seized from KARIM SADRUDDIN. 

REAL PROPERTIES 

a) Real property having a mailing address of 63 85 Bellmoore Park Lane, Johns Creek,
Georgia 30097, with all appurtenances, improvements, and attachments thereon,
which is more fully identified and more particularly described below:

All that tract or parcel of land lying and being in Land Lot 417 of the 1st
District, 1st Section, Fulton County, Georgia being Lot 241, The Palisades at
Bellmoore Park - Phase II, as shown on plat recorded in Plat Book 380, pages
106-114, Fulton County, Georgia records, which said plat being incorporated
herein by reference thereto.

For further reference see Limited Warranty Deed :filed and recorded on June 
2, 2017, in Deed Book 57578, Page 501, in the Clerk of Superior Court for 
Fulton County, Georgia, Instrument Number 2017-0195292. 
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b) Real property having a mailing address of 11205 Olbrich Trail, Johns Creek,
Georgia 30097, with all appurtenances, improvements, and attachments
thereon, which is more fully identified and more particularly described below:

All that tract of parcel of land lying and being in Land Lot 417 and 418 of the 
1st District, 1st Section, Fulton County, Georgia being Lot 200, The Palisades 
at Bellmoore Park- Phase III, as shown on plat recorded in Plat Book 387, 
Pages 69-79, Fulton County, Georgia records. 

For further reference see Deed Book 59083, page 208, filed and recorded 
August 3, 2018 in the Clerk of Superior Court for Fulton County, Georgia, 
Instrument Number 2018-0217292. 

c) Real property having a mailing address of 132 Ferro Street, Pikeville, TN 37367,
with all appurtenances, improvements, and attachments thereon, which is more
fully identified and more particularly described below:

To find the true point of beginning, begin at the intersection of the Westerly line of 
Bledsoe Recreation Center property with the Southern right of way line of 
Cleveland Street and go, thence South 44 °23117" West and along the Westerly line 
of Bledsoe Recreation Center property a distance of755.08 feet to a point; thence 
South 49°10'55" East along the Southerly line of the Bledsoe Recreation Center 
property a distance of 778.65 feet to fence comer, said comer also being the 
Southeast comer of the Bledsoe Recreation Center; thence South 49°4121" East a 
distance of 587.73 feet to a point in the Western right of way line of "C" Street; 
thence South 49°10139" West along the Western right-of-way line of 11C11 Street a 
distance of 156.75 feet to a point; thence North 48°3412111 West and leaving said 
right of way line a distance of 33.0 feet to a point; thence South 44°912011 West a 
distance of 213 .66 feet to a wood fence post; thence North 3 7° 1717 11 West a distance 
of 156.96 feet to a fence post; thence South 49°45117" West a distance of 235.90 
feet to a wood fence post; thence 46°53'5911 West a distance of 235.90 feet to a 
wood fence post; thence 46°53'59" West a distance of 1,177.97 feet to a point; 
thence North 48°20149" East a distance of 527.47 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

Being the same property conveyed to the Grantor by deed of record in Book 
RB304, Page 108, Register's Office, Bledsoe County, Tennessee. 

For further reference see Warranty Deed filed and recorded on July 7, 2017, 
in Deed Book RB313, Pages 443-448, in the Register of Deed's Office of 
Bledsoe County, Tennessee, Instrument Number 17115404. 

PROCEEDS 
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Proceeds in the amount of $1,750,000.00 in U.S. currency, which represents the minimum 
amount of proceeds the defendanti KARIM SADRUDDIN, personally obtained as a result of 
an offense in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343, and the amount of money involved in the 
defendant's offense in violation of18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(h) and 1957. 

The defendant further agrees to assist the United States fully in the identification, recovery, 

and return to the United States of any other assets or portions thereof subject to forfeiture. The 

defendant further agrees to make a full and complete disclosure of all assets over which the defendant 

exercises control and those which are held or controlled by a nominee. The defendant agrees to 

forfeiture of the money judgment as described above and to take whatever steps are necessary to pass 

clear title of assets to the United States. These steps include, but are not limited to, the surrender of 

title, the signing of a consent decree of forfeiture, and the signing of any other documents necessary 

to effectuate such transfers. The defendant agrees not to object to any forfeiture brought against these 

properties. The defendant agrees to take all such steps to locate such property and to pass title to the 

United States before the defendant's sentencing. 

10. The defendant agrees that the Court shall order restitution, pursuant to any applicable

provision oflaw, for any loss caused to: (1) the victim(s) of any offense charged in this case (including 

dismissed counts); and (2) the victim(s) of any criminal activity that was part of the same course of 

conduct or common scheme or plan as the defendant's charged offense(s). 

11. Financial Obligations. The defendant agrees to pay all fines and restitution imposed

by the Court to the Clerk of Court. The defendant also agrees that the full fine and/or restitution 

amount(s) shall be considered due and payable immediately. If the defendant cannot pay the full 

amount immediately and is placed in custody or under the supervision of the Probation Office at any 

time, the defendant agrees that the Bureau of Prisons and the Probation Office will have the 

authority to establish payment schedules to ensure payment of the fine and/or restitution. The 

defendant further agrees to cooperate fully in efforts to collect any financial obligation imposed by 
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the Court by set-off of federal payments, execution on non-exempt property, and any other means 

the United States deems appropriate. The defendant and counsel also agree that the defendant may 

be contacted post-judgment regarding the collection of any financial obligation imposed by the 

Court without notifying the defendant's counsel and outside the presence of the defendant's counsel. 

In order to facilitate the collection of financial obligations to be imposed with this prosecution, the 

defendant agrees to disclose fully all assets in which the defendant has any interest or over which the 

defendant exercises control, directly or indirectly, including those held by a spouse, nominee, or 

other third party. In furtherance of this agreement, the defendant additionally agrees to the 

following specific terms and conditions: 

a) If so requested by the United States, the defendant will promptly submit a

completed financial statement to the U.S. Attorney's Office, in a form it provides and as it directs. 

The defendant promises that such financial statement and disclosures will be complete, accurate, and 

truthful. 

b) The defendant expressly authorizes the U.S. Attorney's Office to obtain a

credit report on the defendant in order to evaluate the defendant's ability to satisfy any financial 

obligation imposed by the Court. 

c) If so requested by the United States, the defendant will promptly execute

authorizations on forms provided by the U.S. Attorney's Office to permit the U.S. Attorney's Office 

to obtain financial and tax records of the defendant. 

12. The defendant recognizes that pleading guilty may have consequences with respect to

his immigration status if he is not a citizen of the United States. Under federal law, a broad range of 

crimes are removable offenses, including the offense(s) to which defendant is pleading guilty. 

Removal and other immigration consequences are the subject of a separate proceeding, however, 
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and defendant understands that no one, including the defendant's attomey or the district court, can 

predict to a certainty the effect of this conviction on defendant's immigration status. Defendant 

nevertheless affirms that he wants to plead guilty regardless of any immigration consequences that 

his plea may entail, even if the consequence is his automatic removal from the United States. 

13. The defendant acknowledges that the principal benefits to the United States of a plea

agreement include the conservation of limited government resources and bringing a certain end to 

the case. Accordingly, in consideration of the concessions made by the United States in this 

agreement and as a further demonstration of the defendant's acceptance of responsibility for the 

offense(s) committed, the defendant voluntarily, knowingly, and intentionally agrees to the 

following: 

The defendant will not, whether directly or by a representative, request or receive from any 

department or agency of the United States any records pertaining to the investigation or prosecution 

of this case, including, without limitation, any records that may be sought under the Freedom of 

Information Act, 5 U.S.C. Section 552, or the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. Section 552a. 

14. This plea agreement becomes effective once it is signed by the parties and is not

contingent on the defendant's entry of a guilty plea. If the United States violates the terms of this 

plea agreement, the defendant will have the right to withdraw from this agreement. If the defendant 

violates the terms of this plea agreement in any way (including but not limited to failing to enter 

guilty plea( s) as agreed herein, moving to withdraw guilty plea(s) after entry, or by violating any 

court order or any local, state or federal law pending the resolution of this case), then the United 

States will have the right to void any or all parts of the agreement and may also enforce whatever 

parts of the agreement it chooses. In addition, the United States may prosecute the defendant for 

any and all federal crimes that the defendant committed related to this case, including any charges 
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that were dismissed and any other charges which the United States agreed not to pursue. The 

defendant expressly waives any statute of limitations defense and any constitutional or speedy trial 

or double jeopardy defense to such a prosecution. The defendant also understands that a violation of 

this plea agreement by the defendant does not entitle the defendant to withdraw the defendant's 

guilty plea(s) in this case. 

15. The United States will :file a supplement in this case, as required in every case by the

Local Rules of the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Tennessee, even though 

there may or may not be any additional terms. If additional terms are included in the supplement, 

they are hereby fully incorporated herein. 

16. This plea agreement and supplement constitute the full and complete agreement and

understanding between the parties concerning the defendant's guilty plea to the above-referenced 

charge( s ), and there are no other agreements, promises, undertakings, or understandings between the 

defendant and the United States. The parties understand and agree that the terms of this plea 

agreement can be modified only in writing signed by all of the parties and that any and all other 

promises, representations, and statements whether made before, contemporaneous with, or after this 

agreement, are null and void. 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE] 
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Date 

Date 

Date 

J. DOUGLAS OVERBEY
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

�W�? jt/J-STEVEN S. NEF 
Assistant United States Attorney 

dant 

�-Attorney for the Defendant 
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AO 245B (Rev. TNED 10/2019) Judgment in a Criminal Case 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE CHATTANOOGA DIVISION 

 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 
   

v.   
  Case Number: 1:19-CR-00146-TRM-CHS(2) 
RAHIM SADRUDDIN 
      

  

USM#54727-074   Charles L Davis 
  Defendant’s Attorney 

THE DEFENDANT:  

☒  pleaded guilty to count(s):   One, Two, and Three of the Information. 

☐  pleaded nolo contendere to count(s)   which was accepted by the court. 

☐  was found guilty on count(s)   after a plea of not guilty. 

ACCORDINGLY, the court has adjudicated that the defendant is guilty of the following offense(s):  

Title & Section and Nature of Offense Date Violation Concluded Count 

18 U.S.C. § 1343 Wire Fraud, involving a Presidentially Declared Major Disaster and 
Emergency 

01/31/2019 1 

18 U.S.C. § 1343 Wire Fraud, involving a Presidentially Declared Major Disaster and 
Emergency  

01/31/2019 2 

18 U.S.C. § 1956(h) and 18 U.S.C. § 1957 Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering  01/31/2019 3 
 
The defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 8  of this judgment. The sentence is imposed pursuant to the Sentencing 
Reform Act of 1984 and 18 U.S.C. § 3553. 
 

☐  The defendant has been found not guilty on count(s). 

☐  All remaining count(s) as to this defendant are dismissed upon motion of the United States. 

IT IS ORDERED that the defendant shall notify the United States Attorney for this district within 30 days of any change of 
name, residence, or mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments imposed by this judgment are fully paid. 
If ordered to pay restitution, the defendant shall notify the court and the United States attorney of any material change in the 
defendant's economic circumstances. 

  

May 7, 2021 
Date of Imposition of Judgment 

 
 
/s/ Travis R. McDonough 
Signature of Judicial Officer 

 

Travis R McDonough, Chief United States District Judge 
Name & Title of Judicial Officer 

 

 May 20, 2021     
Date 
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DEFENDANT: 
CASE NUMBER: 

RAHIM SADRUDDIN 
1:19-CR-00146-TRM-CHS(2) 

Judgment - Page 2 of 8 

 

IMPRISONMENT 

The defendant is hereby committed to the custody of the Federal Bureau of Prisons to be imprisoned for a total term of 50 months:  

This term consists of 50 months on each of Counts One, Two, and Three of the Information, to be served concurrently. 

☐ The court makes the following recommendations to the Bureau of Prisons:  
 
  

☐ The defendant is remanded to the custody of the United States Marshal. 

☒ The defendant shall surrender to the United States Marshal for this district: 

☒ at   12:00 ☐ a.m. ☒ p.m. on August 16, 2021   

☐ as notified by the United States 
Marshal. 

 

☐ The defendant shall surrender for service of sentence at the institution designated by the Bureau of Prisons: 
☐ before 2 p.m. on   . 
☐ as notified by the United States Marshal. 
☐ as notified by the Probation or Pretrial Services Office. 

RETURN 
I have executed this judgment as follows: 
 
 
Defendant delivered on   

to   ,  
at  ,  
with a certified copy of this judgment. 

 
 
 

  

  
UNITED STATES MARSHAL  
 

By  

DEPUTY UNITED STATES MARSHAL  
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DEFENDANT: 
CASE NUMBER: 

RAHIM SADRUDDIN 
1:19-CR-00146-TRM-CHS(2) 

Judgment - Page 3 of 8 

 

SUPERVISED RELEASE 

Upon release from imprisonment, the defendant shall be on supervised release for a term of five (5) years. This term consists of five 
(5) years on each of Counts One and Two of the Information, and three (3) years on Count Three of the Information, all such 
terms to be served concurrently. 

 
MANDATORY CONDITIONS 

 

1. You must not commit another federal, state or local crime. 

2. You must not unlawfully possess a controlled substance. 

3. You must refrain from any unlawful use of a controlled substance. You must submit to one drug test within 15 days of release 
from imprisonment and at least two periodic drug tests thereafter, as determined by the court. 

  ☐ The above drug testing condition is suspended, based on the court's determination that you pose a low risk of future 
substance abuse. (check if applicable) 

4. ☐ You must make restitution in accordance with 18 U.S.C. §§ 3663 and 3663A or any other statute authorizing a sentencing 
of restitution.  (check if applicable) 

5. ☒ You must cooperate in the collection of DNA as directed by the probation officer. (check if applicable) 

6. ☐ You must comply with the requirements of the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (34 U.S.C. § 20901, et 
seq.) as directed by the probation officer, the Bureau of Prisons, or any state sex offender registration agency in which 
you reside, work, are a student, or were convicted of a qualifying offense. (check if applicable) 

7. ☐ You must participate in an approved program for domestic violence. (check if applicable) 
 
You must comply with the standard conditions that have been adopted by this court as well as with any other conditions on the 
attached page. 
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DEFENDANT: 
CASE NUMBER: 

RAHIM SADRUDDIN 
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STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 
 

As part of your supervised release, you must comply with the following standard conditions of supervision. These conditions are 
imposed because they establish the basic expectations for your behavior while on supervision and identify the minimum tools needed 
by probation officers to keep informed, report to the court about, and bring about improvements in your conduct and condition. 
 

1. You must report to the probation office in the federal judicial district where you are authorized to reside within 72 hours of 
your release from imprisonment, unless the probation officer instructs you to report to a different probation office or within a 
different time frame. 

2. After initially reporting to the probation office, you will receive instructions from the court or the probation officer about how 
and when you must report to the probation officer, and you must report to the probation officer as instructed. 

3. You must not knowingly leave the federal judicial district where you are authorized to reside without first getting permission 
from the court or the probation officer. 

4. You must answer truthfully the questions asked by your probation officer. 
5. You must live at a place approved by the probation officer. If you plan to change where you live or anything about your 

living arrangements (such as the people you live with), you must notify the probation officer at least 10 days before the 
change. If notifying the probation officer in advance is not possible due to unanticipated circumstances, you must notify the 
probation officer within 72 hours of becoming aware of a change or expected change. 

6. You must allow the probation officer to visit you at any time at your home or elsewhere, and you must permit the probation 
officer to take any items prohibited by the conditions of your supervision that he or she observes in plain view. 

7. You must work full time (at least 30 hours per week) at a lawful type of employment, unless the probation officer excuses 
you from doing so. If you do not have full-time employment you must try to find full-time employment, unless the probation 
officer excuses you from doing so. If you plan to change where you work or anything about your work (such as your position 
or your job responsibilities), you must notify the probation officer at least 10 days before the change. If notifying the 
probation officer at least 10 days in advance is not possible due to unanticipated circumstances, you must notify the probation 
officer within 72 hours of becoming aware of a change or expected change. 

8. You must not communicate or interact with someone you know is engaged in criminal activity. If you know someone has 
been convicted of a felony, you must not knowingly communicate or interact with that person without first getting the 
permission of the probation officer. 

9. If you are arrested or questioned by a law enforcement officer, you must notify the probation officer within 72 hours. 
10. You must not own, possess, or have access to a firearm, ammunition, destructive device, or dangerous weapon (i.e., anything 

that was designed, or was modified for, the specific purpose of causing bodily injury or death to another person such as 
nunchakus or tasers). 

11. You must not act or make any agreement with a law enforcement agency to act as a confidential human source or informant 
without first getting the permission of the court. 

12. If the probation officer determines that you pose a risk to another person (including an organization), the probation officer 
may require you to notify the person about the risk and you must comply with that instruction. The probation officer may 
contact the person and confirm that you have notified the person about the risk. 

13. You must follow the instructions of the probation officer related to the conditions of supervision. 
 

U.S. Probation Office Use Only 
 
A U.S. probation officer has instructed me on the mandatory, standard, and any special conditions specified by the court and has 
provided me with a written copy of this judgment containing these conditions. For further information regarding these conditions, see 
Overview of Probation and Supervised Release Conditions, available at: www.uscourts.gov. 
 
 

Defendant’s Signature   Date  
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SPECIAL CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 
 
 
 
1. The defendant shall pay any financial penalty that is imposed by this judgment, and that remains unpaid at the 
commencement of the term of supervised release.  
 
2. The defendant shall provide the probation officer with access to any requested financial information.  
 
3. The defendant shall not incur new credit charges on existing accounts or apply for additional lines of credit 
without permission of the probation officer until the restitution has been paid in full. In addition, the defendant shall 
not enter into any contractual agreements which obligate funds without the permission of the probation officer.  
 
4. The defendant shall submit his property, house, residence, vehicle, papers, [computers (as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 
1030(e)(1)), other electronic communications or data storage devices or media,] or office, to a search conducted by a 
United States Probation Officer or designee. Failure to submit to a search may be grounds for revocation of release. 
The defendant shall warn any other occupants that the premises may be subject to searches pursuant to this 
condition. An officer may conduct a search pursuant to this condition only when a reasonable suspicion exists that 
the defendant has violated a condition of his supervision, and the areas to be searched contain evidence of this  
violation. Any search must be conducted at a reasonable time and in a reasonable manner.  
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CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 
 

The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary penalties under the Schedule of Payments sheet of this judgment. 
 

 Assessment Restitution Fine AVAA Assessment* JVTA Assessment ** 
TOTALS $300.00 $7,005,895.76 $.00 $.00 $.00 

 
☐ The determination of restitution is deferred until   An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case (AO245C) will be entered 

after such determination. 
☐ The defendant must make restitution (including community restitution) to the following payees in the amount listed below. 

 
If the defendant makes a partial payment, each payee shall receive an approximately proportioned payment, unless specified 
otherwise in the priority order or percentage payment column below.  However, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3664(i), all nonfederal 
victims must be paid before the United States is paid. 
 

“The United States Attorney’s Office requested that any restitution received be first credited to the State of Tennessee.  Once 
restitution is paid in full to the State of Tennessee, the remaining payments are to be credited proportionally to their 
compensable injuries for TVA and FEMA” 

 
Restitution of $7,005,895.76, jointly and severally with co-defendant Karim Sadruddin (1:19-cr-00146-001), to: 
 
 FEMA 
 FEMA FINANCE CENTER 
 430 MARKET STREET 
 WINCHESTER, VA 22603 
  
 $3,775,895.76 
 
 State of Tennessee - Attorney General’s Office 
 Post Office Box 2027 
 Nashville, TN 37202 
 (615) 532-7405 
 $3,000,000.00 
 
 TENNESSEE VALLEY AUTHORITY 
 400 WEST SUMMIT HILL DRIVE 
 KNOXVILLE, TN 37902 
  
 $230,000.00 
 
☐ Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $   
   
 The defendant must pay interest on restitution and a fine of more than $2,500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in full before 

the fifteenth day after the date of the judgment, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(f).  All of the payment options under the Schedule 
of Payments sheet of this judgment may be subject to penalties for delinquency and default, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g). 

   

☒ The court determined that the defendant does not have the ability to pay interest and it is ordered that: 
☒ the interest requirement is waived for the ☐ fine ☒ restitution 

☐ the interest requirement for the ☐ fine ☐ restitution is modified as follows: 
      

 
* Amy, Vicky, and Andy Child Pornography Victim Assistance Act of 2018, Pub. L. No. 115-299. 
** Justice for Victims of Trafficking Act of 2015, Pub. L. No. 114-22. 
*** Findings for the total amount of losses are required under Chapters 109A, 110, 110A, and 113A of Title 18 for offenses committed on or after September 13, 1994, 
but before April 23, 1996. 
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SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 
 
Having assessed the defendant’s ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties is due as follows: 
 

A ☒ Lump sum payment of $300.00  due immediately, balance due 
☐ not later than  , or 

☒ in accordance with ☐ C, ☐ D, ☐ E, or ☒ F below; or 
          

B ☐ Payment to begin immediately (may be combined with ☐ C, ☐ D, or ☐ F below); or 
         
C ☐ Payment in equal     (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of $     over a period 

of   (e.g., months or years), to commence   (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after the date of this judgment; or 
   
D ☐ Payment in equal     (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of $     over a period 

of   (e.g., months or years), to commence   (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisonment to a term of 
supervision; or 

   
E ☐ Payment during the term of supervised release will commence within     (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from 

imprisonment. The court will set the payment plan based on an assessment of the defendant’s ability to pay at that time; or 
   
F ☒ Special instructions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties: 

 
It is further ordered that the defendant shall make restitution to the following victims in the following amounts:  
 
State of Tennessee $3,000,000 (Tennessee) 
  
Tennessee Valley Authority $230,000.00 (United States)  
 
FEMA 3,775,895.76 (United States)  
 
Total $7,005,895.76  
 
except that no further payment shall be required after the sum of the amounts actually paid by all defendants has fully 
covered all of the compensable injuries. The United States Attorney’s Office requested that any restitution received be 
first credited to the State of Tennessee. Once restitution is paid in full to the State of Tennessee, the remaining payments 
are to be credited proportionally to their compensable injuries for TVA and FEMA. 
  
During the period of incarceration, payment shall be made as follows: (1) if the defendant earns wages in a Federal Prison 
Industries (UNICOR) job, then the defendant must pay a minimum of 50 percent of wages earned toward the financial 
obligations imposed by this Order; (2) if the defendant does not work in a UNICOR job, then the defendant must pay a 
minimum of $25 per quarter toward the financial obligations imposed in this Order. These payments made while 
incarcerated do not preclude the government from using other assets or income of the defendant to satisfy his restitution 
obligation. 
  
Upon release from incarceration, defendant shall pay restitution at the minimum rate of 10 percent of monthly gross 
income until such time as the Court may alter that payment schedule in the interests of justice.  
 
The government may enforce the full amount of restitution ordered at any time, pursuant to Title 18 U.S.C. §§ 3612, 
3613, and 3664(m). 

  
 
Unless the court has expressly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal monetary penalties is 
due during imprisonment.  All criminal monetary penalties, except those payments made through the Federal Bureau of Prisons’ 
Inmate Financial Responsibility Program, are made to U.S. District Court, 900 Georgia Avenue, Joel W. Solomon Federal 
Building, United States Courthouse, Chattanooga, TN, 37402.  Payments shall be in the form of a check or a money order, made 
payable to U.S. District Court, with a notation of the case number including defendant number. 
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The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed. 
 
☒ Joint and Several 

 

See above for Defendant and Co-Defendant Names and Case Numbers (including defendant number), Total Amount, Joint 
and Several Amount, and corresponding payee, if appropriate. 
 
Restitution of $7,005,895.76, jointly and severally with co-defendant Karim Sadruddin (1:19-cr-00146-001), to: 
 
 FEMA 
 FEMA FINANCE CENTER 
 430 MARKET STREET 
 WINCHESTER, VA 22603 
  
 $3,775,895.76 
 
 State of Tennessee - Attorney General’s Office 
 Post Office Box 2027 
 Nashville, TN 37202 
 (615) 532-7405 
 
  
 $3,000,000.00 
 
 TENNESSEE VALLEY AUTHORITY 
 400 WEST SUMMIT HILL DRIVE 
 KNOXVILLE, TN 37902 
  
 $230,000.00 
 

 
☐ Defendant shall receive credit on his restitution obligation for recovery from other defendants who contributed to the same 
loss that gave rise to defendant's restitution obligation. 

☐ The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution. 
☐ The defendant shall pay the following court cost(s):  
☐ The defendant shall forfeit the defendant’s interest in the following property to the United States: 
  

 
Payments shall be applied in the following order: (1) assessment, (2) restitution principal, (3) restitution interest, (4) AVAA 
assessment, (5) fine principal, (6) fine interest, (7) community restitution, (8) JVTA Assessment, (9) penalties, and (10) costs, 
including cost of prosecution and court costs. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE CHATTANOOGA DIVISION 

 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 
   

v.   
  Case Number: 1:19-CR-00146-TRM-CHS(1) 
KARIM SADRUDDIN 
      

  

USM#54726-074   C. Eugene Shiles 
  Defendant’s Attorney 

THE DEFENDANT:  

☒  pleaded guilty to count(s):   One, Two, and Three of the Information. 

☐  pleaded nolo contendere to count(s)   which was accepted by the court. 

☐  was found guilty on count(s)   after a plea of not guilty. 

ACCORDINGLY, the court has adjudicated that the defendant is guilty of the following offense(s):  

Title & Section and Nature of Offense Date Violation Concluded Count 

18 U.S.C. § 1343 Wire Fraud, involving a Presidentially Declared Major Disaster and 
Emergency  

01/31/2019 1 

18 U.S.C. § 1343 Wire Fraud, involving a Presidentially Declared Major Disaster and 
Emergency 

01/31/2019 2 

18 U.S.C. § 1956(h) and 18 U.S.C. § 1957 Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering  01/31/2019 3 
 
The defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 8  of this judgment. The sentence is imposed pursuant to the Sentencing 
Reform Act of 1984 and 18 U.S.C. § 3553. 
 

☐  The defendant has been found not guilty on count(s). 

☐  All remaining count(s) as to this defendant are dismissed upon motion of the United States. 

IT IS ORDERED that the defendant shall notify the United States Attorney for this district within 30 days of any change of 
name, residence, or mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments imposed by this judgment are fully paid. 
If ordered to pay restitution, the defendant shall notify the court and the United States attorney of any material change in the 
defendant's economic circumstances. 

  

May 7, 2021 
Date of Imposition of Judgment 

 
 
/s/ Travis R. McDonough 
Signature of Judicial Officer 

 

Travis R McDonough, Chief United States District Judge 
Name & Title of Judicial Officer 

 

May 20, 2021      
Date 
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IMPRISONMENT 

The defendant is hereby committed to the custody of the Federal Bureau of Prisons to be imprisoned for a total term of 50 months:  

This term consists of 50 months on each of Counts One, Two, and Three of the Information, to be served concurrently. 

☐ The court makes the following recommendations to the Bureau of Prisons:  
 
  

☐ The defendant is remanded to the custody of the United States Marshal. 

☒ The defendant shall surrender to the United States Marshal for this district: 

☒ at   12:00 ☐ a.m. ☒ p.m. on August 16, 2021   

☐ as notified by the United States 
Marshal. 

 

☐ The defendant shall surrender for service of sentence at the institution designated by the Bureau of Prisons: 
☐ before 2 p.m. on   . 
☐ as notified by the United States Marshal. 
☐ as notified by the Probation or Pretrial Services Office. 

RETURN 
I have executed this judgment as follows: 
 
 
Defendant delivered on   

to   ,  
at  ,  
with a certified copy of this judgment. 

 
 
 

  

  
UNITED STATES MARSHAL  
 

By  

DEPUTY UNITED STATES MARSHAL  
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SUPERVISED RELEASE 

Upon release from imprisonment, the defendant shall be on supervised release for a term of five (5) years.  This term consists of five 
(5) years on each of Counts One and Two of the Information, and three (3) years on Count Three of the Information, all such 
terms to be served concurrently. 

 
MANDATORY CONDITIONS 

 

1. You must not commit another federal, state or local crime. 

2. You must not unlawfully possess a controlled substance. 

3. You must refrain from any unlawful use of a controlled substance. You must submit to one drug test within 15 days of release 
from imprisonment and at least two periodic drug tests thereafter, as determined by the court. 

  ☐ The above drug testing condition is suspended, based on the court's determination that you pose a low risk of future 
substance abuse. (check if applicable) 

4. ☐ You must make restitution in accordance with 18 U.S.C. §§ 3663 and 3663A or any other statute authorizing a sentencing 
of restitution.  (check if applicable) 

5. ☒ You must cooperate in the collection of DNA as directed by the probation officer. (check if applicable) 

6. ☐ You must comply with the requirements of the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (34 U.S.C. § 20901, et 
seq.) as directed by the probation officer, the Bureau of Prisons, or any state sex offender registration agency in which 
you reside, work, are a student, or were convicted of a qualifying offense. (check if applicable) 

7. ☐ You must participate in an approved program for domestic violence. (check if applicable) 
 
You must comply with the standard conditions that have been adopted by this court as well as with any other conditions on the 
attached page. 
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STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 
 

As part of your supervised release, you must comply with the following standard conditions of supervision. These conditions are 
imposed because they establish the basic expectations for your behavior while on supervision and identify the minimum tools needed 
by probation officers to keep informed, report to the court about, and bring about improvements in your conduct and condition. 
 

1. You must report to the probation office in the federal judicial district where you are authorized to reside within 72 hours of 
your release from imprisonment, unless the probation officer instructs you to report to a different probation office or within a 
different time frame. 

2. After initially reporting to the probation office, you will receive instructions from the court or the probation officer about how 
and when you must report to the probation officer, and you must report to the probation officer as instructed. 

3. You must not knowingly leave the federal judicial district where you are authorized to reside without first getting permission 
from the court or the probation officer. 

4. You must answer truthfully the questions asked by your probation officer. 
5. You must live at a place approved by the probation officer. If you plan to change where you live or anything about your 

living arrangements (such as the people you live with), you must notify the probation officer at least 10 days before the 
change. If notifying the probation officer in advance is not possible due to unanticipated circumstances, you must notify the 
probation officer within 72 hours of becoming aware of a change or expected change. 

6. You must allow the probation officer to visit you at any time at your home or elsewhere, and you must permit the probation 
officer to take any items prohibited by the conditions of your supervision that he or she observes in plain view. 

7. You must work full time (at least 30 hours per week) at a lawful type of employment, unless the probation officer excuses 
you from doing so. If you do not have full-time employment you must try to find full-time employment, unless the probation 
officer excuses you from doing so. If you plan to change where you work or anything about your work (such as your position 
or your job responsibilities), you must notify the probation officer at least 10 days before the change. If notifying the 
probation officer at least 10 days in advance is not possible due to unanticipated circumstances, you must notify the probation 
officer within 72 hours of becoming aware of a change or expected change. 

8. You must not communicate or interact with someone you know is engaged in criminal activity. If you know someone has 
been convicted of a felony, you must not knowingly communicate or interact with that person without first getting the 
permission of the probation officer. 

9. If you are arrested or questioned by a law enforcement officer, you must notify the probation officer within 72 hours. 
10. You must not own, possess, or have access to a firearm, ammunition, destructive device, or dangerous weapon (i.e., anything 

that was designed, or was modified for, the specific purpose of causing bodily injury or death to another person such as 
nunchakus or tasers). 

11. You must not act or make any agreement with a law enforcement agency to act as a confidential human source or informant 
without first getting the permission of the court. 

12. If the probation officer determines that you pose a risk to another person (including an organization), the probation officer 
may require you to notify the person about the risk and you must comply with that instruction. The probation officer may 
contact the person and confirm that you have notified the person about the risk. 

13. You must follow the instructions of the probation officer related to the conditions of supervision. 
 

U.S. Probation Office Use Only 
 
A U.S. probation officer has instructed me on the mandatory, standard, and any special conditions specified by the court and has 
provided me with a written copy of this judgment containing these conditions. For further information regarding these conditions, see 
Overview of Probation and Supervised Release Conditions, available at: www.uscourts.gov. 
 
 

Defendant’s Signature   Date  
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SPECIAL CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 
 
 
 
1. The defendant shall pay any financial penalty that is imposed by this judgment, and that remains unpaid at the 
commencement of the term of supervised release.  
 
2. The defendant shall provide the probation officer with access to any requested financial information.  
 
3. The defendant shall not incur new credit charges on existing accounts or apply for additional lines of credit 
without permission of the probation officer until the restitution has been paid in full. In addition, the defendant shall 
not enter into any contractual agreements which obligate funds without the permission of the probation officer.  
 
4. The defendant shall submit his property, house, residence, vehicle, papers, [computers (as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 
1030(e)(1)), other electronic communications or data storage devices or media,] or office, to a search conducted by a 
United States Probation Officer or designee. Failure to submit to a search may be grounds for revocation of release. 
The defendant shall warn any other occupants that the premises may be subject to searches pursuant to this 
condition. An officer may conduct a search pursuant to this condition only when a reasonable suspicion exists that 
the defendant has violated a condition of his supervision, and the areas to be searched contain evidence of this 
violation. Any search must be conducted at a reasonable time and in a reasonable manner.  
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CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 
 

The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary penalties under the Schedule of Payments sheet of this judgment. 
 

 Assessment Restitution Fine AVAA Assessment* JVTA Assessment ** 
TOTALS $300.00 $7,005,896.76 $.00 $.00 $.00 

 
☐ The determination of restitution is deferred until   An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case (AO245C) will be entered 

after such determination. 
☐ The defendant must make restitution (including community restitution) to the following payees in the amount listed below. 

 
If the defendant makes a partial payment, each payee shall receive an approximately proportioned payment, unless specified 
otherwise in the priority order or percentage payment column below.  However, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3664(i), all nonfederal 
victims must be paid before the United States is paid. 
 

“The United States Attorney’s Office requested that any restitution received be first credited to the State of Tennessee.  Once 
restitution is paid in full to the State of Tennessee, the remaining payments are to be credited proportionally to their 
compensable injuries for TVA and FEMA” 

 
 

Restitution of $7,005,896.76, jointly and severally with co-defendant Rahim Sadruddin (1:19-cr-00146-002), to: 
 
 FEMA 
 FEMA FINANCE CENTER 
 430 MARKET STREET 
 WINCHESTER, VA 22603 
  
 $3,775,895.76 
 
 State of Tennessee – Attorney General’s Office 
 Post Office Box 20207 
 Nashville, TN 37202 
 (615) 532-7405 
 $3,000,000.00 
 
 TENNESSEE VALLEY AUTHORITY 
 400 WEST SUMMIT HILL DRIVE 
 KNOXVILLE, TN 37902 
  
 $230,000.00 
 
☐ Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $   
   
 The defendant must pay interest on restitution and a fine of more than $2,500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in full before 

the fifteenth day after the date of the judgment, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(f).  All of the payment options under the Schedule 
of Payments sheet of this judgment may be subject to penalties for delinquency and default, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g). 

   

☒ The court determined that the defendant does not have the ability to pay interest and it is ordered that: 
☒ the interest requirement is waived for the ☐ fine ☒ restitution 

☐ the interest requirement for the ☐ fine ☐ restitution is modified as follows: 
      

 
* Amy, Vicky, and Andy Child Pornography Victim Assistance Act of 2018, Pub. L. No. 115-299. 
** Justice for Victims of Trafficking Act of 2015, Pub. L. No. 114-22. 
*** Findings for the total amount of losses are required under Chapters 109A, 110, 110A, and 113A of Title 18 for offenses committed on or after September 13, 1994, 
but before April 23, 1996. 
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SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 
 
Having assessed the defendant’s ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties is due as follows: 
 

A ☒ Lump sum payment of $300.00  due immediately, balance due 
☐ not later than  , or 

☐ in accordance with ☐ C, ☐ D, ☐ E, or ☐ F below; or 
          

B ☐ Payment to begin immediately (may be combined with ☐ C, ☐ D, or ☐ F below); or 
         
C ☐ Payment in equal     (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of $     over a period 

of   (e.g., months or years), to commence   (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after the date of this judgment; or 
   
D ☐ Payment in equal     (e.g., weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of $     over a period 

of   (e.g., months or years), to commence   (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisonment to a term of 
supervision; or 

   
E ☐ Payment during the term of supervised release will commence within     (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from 

imprisonment. The court will set the payment plan based on an assessment of the defendant’s ability to pay at that time; or 
   
F ☒ Special instructions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties: 

 
It is further ordered that the defendant shall make restitution to the following victims in the following amounts:  
 
State of Tennessee $3,000,000 (Tennessee) 
  
Tennessee Valley Authority $230,000.00 (United States)  
 
FEMA 3,775,895.76 (United States)  
 
Total $7,005,895.76  
 
except that no further payment shall be required after the sum of the amounts actually paid by all defendants has fully 
covered all of the compensable injuries. The United States Attorney’s Office requested that any restitution received be 
first credited to the State of Tennessee. Once restitution is paid in full to the State of Tennessee, the remaining payments 
are to be credited proportionally to their compensable injuries for TVA and FEMA.  
 
During the period of incarceration, payment shall be made as follows: (1) if the defendant earns wages in a Federal Prison 
Industries (UNICOR) job, then the defendant must pay a minimum of 50 percent of wages earned toward the financial 
obligations imposed by this Order; (2) if the defendant does not work in a UNICOR job, then the defendant must pay a 
minimum of $25 per quarter toward the financial obligations imposed in this Order. These payments made while 
incarcerated do not preclude the government from using other assets or income of the defendant to satisfy his restitution 
obligation. 
  
Upon release from incarceration, defendant shall pay restitution at the minimum rate of 10 percent of monthly gross 
income until such time as the Court may alter that payment schedule in the interests of justice. 
  
The government may enforce the full amount of restitution ordered at any time, pursuant to Title 18 
U.S.C. §§ 3612, 3613, and 3664(m). 

  
 
Unless the court has expressly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal monetary penalties is 
due during imprisonment.  All criminal monetary penalties, except those payments made through the Federal Bureau of Prisons’ 
Inmate Financial Responsibility Program, are made to U.S. District Court, 900 Georgia Avenue, Joel W. Solomon Federal 
Building, United States Courthouse, Chattanooga, TN, 37402.  Payments shall be in the form of a check or a money order, made 
payable to U.S. District Court, with a notation of the case number including defendant number. 
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The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed. 
 
☒ Joint and Several 

 

See above for Defendant and Co-Defendant Names and Case Numbers (including defendant number), Total Amount, Joint 
and Several Amount, and corresponding payee, if appropriate. 
 
Restitution of $7,005,896.76, jointly and severally with co-defendant Rahim Sadruddin (1:19-cr-00146-002), to: 
 
 FEMA 
 FEMA FINANCE CENTER 
 430 MARKET STREET 
 WINCHESTER, VA 22603 
  
 $3,775,895.76 
 
 State of Tennessee – Attorney General’s Office 
 Post Office Box 20207  
 Nashville, TN 37202 
              $3,000,000.00 
 
 TENNESSEE VALLEY AUTHORITY 
 400 WEST SUMMIT HILL DRIVE 
 KNOXVILLE, TN 37902 
  
 $230,000.00 
 

 
☐ Defendant shall receive credit on his restitution obligation for recovery from other defendants who contributed to the same 
loss that gave rise to defendant's restitution obligation. 

☐ The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution. 
☐ The defendant shall pay the following court cost(s):  
☐ The defendant shall forfeit the defendant’s interest in the following property to the United States: 
  

 
Payments shall be applied in the following order: (1) assessment, (2) restitution principal, (3) restitution interest, (4) AVAA 
assessment, (5) fine principal, (6) fine interest, (7) community restitution, (8) JVTA Assessment, (9) penalties, and (10) costs, 
including cost of prosecution and court costs. 
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